

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

KISHORE NATH, Individually and On
Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated,

Plaintiff,

v.

LIGHTSPEED COMMERCE INC., DAX
DASILVA, and BRANDON BLAIR
NUSSEY,

Defendants.

Case No.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiff Kishore Nath (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, by Plaintiff’s undersigned attorneys, for Plaintiff’s complaint against Defendants, alleges the following based upon personal knowledge as to Plaintiff and Plaintiff’s own acts, and information and belief as to all other matters, based upon, *inter alia*, the investigation conducted by and through Plaintiff’s attorneys, which included, among other things, a review of the Defendants’ public documents, conference calls and announcements made by Defendants, United States (“U.S.”) Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings, wire and press releases published by and regarding Lightspeed Commerce Inc. (“Lightspeed” or the “Company”), analysts’ reports and advisories about the Company, and information readily obtainable on the Internet. Plaintiff believes that substantial additional evidentiary support will exist for the allegations set forth herein after a reasonable opportunity for discovery.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This is a federal securities class action on behalf of a class consisting of all persons and entities other than Defendants that purchased or otherwise acquired Lightspeed securities

between September 11, 2020 and September 28, 2021, both dates inclusive (the “Class Period”), seeking to recover damages caused by Defendants’ violations of the federal securities laws and to pursue remedies under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, against the Company and certain of its top officials.

2. Lightspeed provides commerce enabling Software as a Service (SaaS) platform for small and midsize businesses, retailers, restaurants, and golf course operators in Canada, the United States, Germany, Australia, and internationally. The Company’s cloud platforms are designed interrelated elements, such as omni-channel consumer experience, a comprehensive back-office operations management suite to improve customers’ efficiency and insight, and the facilitation of payments. Lightspeed’s platform functionalities include full omni-channel capabilities, order-ahead and curbside pickup, point of sale, product and menu management, employee and inventory management, analytics and reporting, multi-location connectivity, loyalty, customer management, and tailored financial solutions.

3. Lightspeed was founded in 2005 as Lightspeed POS Inc.¹ In March 2019, Lightspeed conducted an initial public offering on the Toronto Stock Exchange, issuing 15 million shares at \$16 per share and raising \$240 million in Canadian dollars (the “Canadian IPO”). In September 2020, the Company conducted an initial public offering and listing on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), issuing 10,896,196 Subordinate Voting Shares at \$30.5 per share for a total gross consideration of \$332.3 million (the “U.S. IPO”).

4. Throughout the Class Period, Defendants made materially false and misleading statements regarding the Company’s business, operations, and compliance policies. Specifically,

¹ In August 2021, the Company changed its name to Lightspeed Commerce Inc.

Defendants made false and/or misleading statements and/or failed to disclose that: (i) Lightspeed had misrepresented the strength of its business by, *inter alia*, overstating its customer count, gross transaction volume (“GTV”), and increase in Average Revenue Per User (“ARPU”), while concealing the Company’s declining organic growth and business deterioration; (ii) Lightspeed had overstated the benefits and value of the Company’s various acquisitions; (iii) accordingly, the Company had overstated its financial position and prospects; and (iv) as a result, the Company’s public statements were materially false and misleading at all relevant times.

5. On September 29, 2021, market analyst Spruce Point Capital Management published a report regarding Lightspeed. Spruce Point also issued a press release summarizing its findings. The summary stated, among other things, that “[e]vidence shows that Lightspeed massively inflated its business pre-IPO, overstating its customer count by 85% and gross transaction volume (‘GTV’) by 10% – a payment volume metric that a former employee described as ‘smoke and mirrors’”; that there was “[e]vidence of declining organic growth and business deterioration through Lightspeed’s IPO, despite management’s claims that Average Revenue Per User (‘ARPU’) is increasing”; and that the Company’s “[r]ecent acquisition spree has come at escalating costs with no clear path to profitability, while management pursues aggressive revenue reporting practices.”

6. On this news, Lightspeed’s stock price fell \$13.73 per share, or 12.2%, to close at \$98.77 per share on September 29, 2021.

7. As a result of Defendants’ wrongful acts and omissions, and the precipitous decline in the market value of the Company’s securities, Plaintiff and other Class members have suffered significant losses and damages.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. The claims asserted herein arise under and pursuant to Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 78t(a)) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the SEC (17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5).

9. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and Section 27 of the Exchange Act.

10. Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa) and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), as the alleged misstatements entered and the subsequent damages took place in this Judicial District. In addition, Lightspeed's securities trade on the NYSE, located in this Judicial District. Finally, pursuant to Lightspeed's most recent Annual Report, as of March 31, 2021, there were 128,528,515 of the Company's Common Shares outstanding. Accordingly, there are presumably hundreds, if not thousands, of investors in Lightspeed's securities within the U.S., some of whom undoubtedly reside in this Judicial District.

11. In connection with the acts alleged in this complaint, Defendants, directly or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including, but not limited to, the mails, interstate telephone communications, and the facilities of the national securities markets.

PARTIES

12. Plaintiff, as set forth in the attached Certification, acquired Lightspeed securities at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period and was damaged upon the revelation of the alleged corrective disclosures.

13. Defendant Lightspeed is a Canadian corporation with principal executive offices located at 700 Saint-Antoine Street East, Suite 300, Montréal, Québec, Canada H2Y 1A6. The Company's securities trade in an efficient market on the NYSE under the ticker symbol "LSPD".

14. Defendant Dax Dasilva ("Dasilva") has served as Lightspeed's Chief Executive Officer and as a Director at all relevant times.

15. Defendant Brandon Blair Nussey ("Nussey") has served as Lightspeed's Chief Financial Officer at all relevant times.

16. Defendants Dasilva and Nussey are sometimes referred to herein as the "Individual Defendants."

17. The Individual Defendants possessed the power and authority to control the contents of Lightspeed's SEC filings, press releases, and other market communications. The Individual Defendants were provided with copies of Lightspeed's SEC filings and press releases alleged herein to be misleading prior to or shortly after their issuance and had the ability and opportunity to prevent their issuance or to cause them to be corrected. Because of their positions with Lightspeed, and their access to material information available to them but not to the public, the Individual Defendants knew that the adverse facts specified herein had not been disclosed to and were being concealed from the public, and that the positive representations being made were then materially false and misleading. The Individual Defendants are liable for the false statements and omissions pleaded herein.

18. Lightspeed and the Individual Defendants are collectively referred to herein as "Defendants."

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

Background

19. Lightspeed provides commerce enabling Software as a Service (SaaS) platform for small and midsize businesses, retailers, restaurants, and golf course operators in Canada, the United States, Germany, Australia, and internationally. The Company's cloud platforms are designed interrelated elements, such as omni-channel consumer experience, a comprehensive back-office operations management suite to improve customers' efficiency and insight, and the facilitation of payments. Lightspeed's platform functionalities include full omni-channel capabilities, order-ahead and curbside pickup, point of sale, product and menu management, employee and inventory management, analytics and reporting, multi-location connectivity, loyalty, customer management, and tailored financial solutions.

20. Lightspeed was founded in 2005 as Lightspeed POS Inc. In March 2019, Lightspeed conducted the Canadian IPO, issuing 15 million shares at \$16 per share and raising \$240 million in Canadian dollars. In September 2020, the Company conducted the U.S. IPO, issuing 10,896,196 Subordinate Voting Shares at \$30.5 per share for a total gross consideration of \$332.3 million.

Materially False and Misleading Statements Issued During the Class Period

21. The Class Period begins on September 10, 2020, when Lightspeed filed an amended Registration Statement (the "Amended Registration Statement") on Form F-10 after conducting the U.S. IPO. In providing an overview of the Company, the Amended Registration Statement stated, in relevant part:

Lightspeed provides easy-to-use, omni-channel commerce-enabling software as a service platforms. Our software platforms provide our customers with the critical functionality they need to engage with consumers, manage their operations, accept payments, and grow their business. We operate globally, empowering single- and

multi-location retailers, restaurants and other SMBs to compete successfully in an omni-channel market environment by engaging with consumers across online, mobile, social, and physical channels. We believe that our platforms are essential to our customers' ability to run and grow their businesses. As a result, most of our revenue is recurring and we have a strong track-record of growing revenue per customer over time.

Our position at the point of commerce puts us in a privileged position for payment processing and allows us to collect transaction-related data insights. Lightspeed Payments, our payments processing solution, has been available to our U.S. retail customers for over one year and has recently been made available to Canadian retail customers and U.S. hospitality customers. The overall portion of new customers contracting for Lightspeed Payments alongside their core software subscription is strong at over 50% during the three-month period ended June 30, 2020, including in the recently launched Canadian retail and U.S. hospitality markets. We have also been seeing strong GTV penetration of Lightspeed Payments, with 10% of our U.S. retail customers' GTV being processed through Lightspeed Payments 15 months after we launched the solution. GTV penetration with our Canadian retail and U.S. hospitality customers is tracking in line with the U.S. retail segment, with 3% and 4% of GTV in those segments being processed through Lightspeed Payments three and four months after launch, respectively. Our targeted pricing for Lightspeed Payments is 2.60% of the electronic transaction volume processed on a gross basis, to net approximately 0.65% after accounting for network and interchange fees and other direct processing costs. We believe that the broader rollout of Lightspeed Payments will further align us with our customers' success and represents a significant growth opportunity for our Company.

22. Further, with respect to the Company's growth strategies, the Amended

Registration Statement stated, in relevant part:

We strive to grow our business both organically and through strategic and value-enhancing acquisitions. Key elements of our growth strategy include the following:

- ***Accelerate ARPU Expansion by Introducing New Modules.*** Given our platforms' extensive suite of modules, our customers can add additional functionalities to their initial line-up of Lightspeed products as their needs evolve. We continue to see a large portion of our existing customers adopt additional modules as they grow and, increasingly, see new customers opting to purchase multiple modules at the outset when first adopting our platform. As of March 31, 2020, approximately 40% of our customers (excluding customers acquired through our three most recent acquisitions) are paying for more than one Lightspeed product, up from approximately 33% a year ago and 26% the year prior to that. We view this as an important

measure of our ability to grow our ARPU and drive further value to our customers.

Our eCommerce platform has seen strong growth with an increasing number of our retail customers electing to use Lightspeed eCom to power their online selling. We saw the GTV processed through our eCommerce platform increase by nearly 100% in the quarter ended June 30, 2020, as compared to the same quarter a year prior. The overall portion of new customers contracting for Lightspeed Payments alongside their core software subscription is strong at over 50% during the three-month period ended June 30, 2020, including in the recently launched Canadian retail and U.S. hospitality markets.

- ***Strategic and Value-Enhancing Acquisitions.*** We complement our organic growth strategies by taking a selective approach to acquisitions. We identify possible acquisition targets with a view to entering new verticals, accelerating our product roadmap and increasing our market penetration, thereby creating value for shareholders.

In May 2019, we completed the acquisition of Chronogolf Inc. which enabled us to enter the attractive golf course vertical, so characterized because of its concentrated supply chains, high GTV businesses and the dominance of legacy systems. The Customer Locations attributable to this acquisition have increased by 50% since the acquisition and revenues have grown 70% in July 2020 compared to the same month last year.

Our acquisition of ReUp Technologies Inc., a cloud-based digital loyalty solution provider, in July 2018, enabled us to, within six months thereafter, launch Lightspeed Loyalty, which was at the time one of the most requested products from our customer base. The Lightspeed Loyalty Product is now used by thousands of customers locations, driving incremental ARPU, and was recently expanded into an omni-channel loyalty solution.

Finally, our acquisition in November 2019 of Kounta Holdings Pty Ltd, a rapidly growing cloud-based POS solutions platform provider to small- and medium-sized hospitality businesses, enhanced our market penetration in Australia and New Zealand. Bringing our sophisticated go-to-market approach to this business enabled us to grow our presence in the APAC region to approximately 10,000 Customer Locations. We have begun to see module expansion in the region via analytics and delivery and have also begun to generate payments revenue through a local partnership.

Throughout our history, we have accrued significant sales and marketing expertise, which we leverage to facilitate our continued global expansion both organically and in integrating the companies we acquire.

23. On November 5, 2020, Lightspeed issued a press release announcing the Company's second quarter 2021 financial results and providing an outlook for the third quarter. The press release stated, in relevant part:

"Today, we reported one of the most exceptional quarters in the history of Lightspeed, demonstrating not only that the business model is working, but also our potential for the long-term," said Chief Financial Officer, Brandon Nussey. "The digital transformation brought on by the pandemic led to strong demand for new customer additions, growing our customer location count to over 80,000."

Operational Highlights

- Software and payments revenue of \$41.1 million grew 62% year over year assisted by the additions of Gastrofix and Kounta which were not in the prior year quarter. Excluding these acquisitions software and payments grew 42% year over year

- GTV increased 56% over the same quarter last year to \$8.5 billion in the quarter, and by 25% when excluding the impact of the Kounta and Gastrofix acquisitions. Retail GTV grew 34%, with the proportion going through eCommerce increasing by 80% versus the prior year. Hospitality GTV grew by 97% due mainly to the impact of the acquisitions, and also the result of a strong rebound from the lows in April

24. That same day, Lightspeed issued a press release entitled, "Lightspeed Acquires ShopKeep to Accelerate Digital Transformation of SMBs Across the United States." The press release stated, in relevant part:

The acquisition immediately expands Lightspeed's U.S. market share, allowing for increased investment in sales, marketing and research and development to capitalize on the increasing demand for modern, cloud-based, omnichannel commerce solutions. Following the closing of the acquisition, **Lightspeed will serve over 100,000 customer locations worldwide, generating approximately \$33 billion USD in gross transaction volume (GTV).**

“This acquisition will bring ShopKeep merchants, small and medium-sized businesses that make up the backbone of the U.S economy, into the Lightspeed family, providing them even more crucial product innovation and world-class support as they drive the reinvention of American commerce.”

(Emphasis in original.)

25. On November 8, 2020, Lightspeed hosted an earnings call with investors and analysts to discuss the Company’s Q2 2021 results (the “Q2 2021 Earnings Call”). During the scripted portion of the Q2 2021 Earnings Call, Defendant Dasilva stated, in relevant part:

Nearly nine months after the outbreak of COVID-19, small and medium-sized businesses continue to face challenging conditions. In addition, we’ve experienced rapid changes in consumer behavior, necessitating a reinvention of commerce for the retail and hospitality industries. Despite these challenges, Lightspeed had one of its strongest quarters yet, with results exceeding our expectations and characterized by a growing customer base, expanding our pool and increased adoption of our ever-growing service offering.

[. . .] Lightspeed saw year-over-year GDP growth of 56% and software and payments growth of 62%, aided by a growing customer base, increased ARPU and the acquisitions of Kounta and Gastrofix. We had a very busy quarter with many notable initiatives.

Our New York listing and equity issue should help the company gain a broader investor base in the key US market, increased liquidity for all of our shareholders, raise our public profile, improve the recognition of our platform, and not least of all, allow us to continue to pursue our growth strategy.

That growth strategy includes acquisitions, and I’m happy to say that our efforts to date have delivered strong success. All four of our recent acquisitions, Chronogolf, iKentoo, Kounta and Gastrofix delivered their strongest quarters yet, demonstrating our ability to integrate and enhance the operations of our acquisition targets.

Finally, our proposed acquisition of ShopKeep. We are happy to announce that Lightspeed has entered into a definitive agreement to acquire one of the leading cloud commerce platform providers ShopKeep, for a total estimated consideration of approximately \$440 million, ShopKeep powers over 20,000 retail and restaurant locations in the United States. And with this acquisition firmly positioned Lightspeed as a category leader, in a highly fragmented market. The combined company will have over 100,000 customer locations globally, and approximately 33 billion in GTV.

ShopKeep will help bring scale and a seasoned management team to our US presence, along with a highly developed capital business, which we hope to leverage. And we will bring a broader solutions portfolio, such as Lightspeed Payments, loyalty, ecommerce, analytics, and multi-location capabilities to ShopKeep's customer base.

26. Also during the scripted portion of the Q2 2021 Earnings Call, Defendant Nussey stated, in relevant part:

As a result of payments and continuing to upsell customers, new software modules our ARPU per customer location in the quarter grew to better than \$170 per month. And finally, as Dax mentioned, a recent acquisition thus thriving, giving evidence that this aspect of the strategy is working as well.

So recapping the second quarter in greater detail, total revenue was \$45.5 million, up from \$28 million a year ago, representing growth at 62%, and well above our guidance of \$38 million to \$40 million.

Adjusted EBITDA loss for the quarter was \$2.8 million compared to \$5.1 million loss from a year ago. And as mentioned, our GTV for the quarter was \$8.5 billion. Over the past 12 months, our GTV was over \$26 billion. We ended the quarter very well capitalized with unrestricted cash on hand of approximately \$513 million.

27. Later during the Q2 2021 Earnings Call, when asked by a market analyst, "It's my understanding is that ShopKeep struggling for growth over last couple years? First of all, can you confirm that? And secondly, if that was the case, can you comment on that dynamic, wasn't there missing some key capabilities that you can now offer? Or was there something else going on?", Defendant Nussey responded, in relevant part:

No, the company was growing pre-COVID, which will, you know, isolate, I suppose as we think about that - the company had a nice organic growth, very similar view to approaching the market as Lightspeed. And as JP mentioned, you know, we would see them regularly in the market and similar types of customers, similar verticals.

And ShopKeep had done a nice job and that team have done a nice job of, you know, positioning multiple software offerings for those customers. And we're achieving some nice growth, again, before COVID came along.

So you know, as we take a look at this, we can share very similar views and how this market will play out in the long run. And just like all the other acquisitions, how we can bring, the increased functionality that Lightspeed offers, the increased breadth and depth of these customers. And I think we're, you know, we really see opportunities as our joint customers now continue to grow, how they can leverage some of that increased functionality from Lightspeed over time.

28. Finally, when asked to identify the key attributes that the Company looks for when making acquisitions, Defendant Dasilva responded, in relevant part:

[. . .] we have three categories in which we acquire, but I think, even before we go into those categories, first of all, the DNA of the company needs to be like, like to meet, this means it needs to be a high growth company, its need to be a cloud based system.

The second category is really geographical expansion. So here, I think, a very good example would be you know, Kounta or would be Gastrofix before those two deals, we were - we'd have zero presence in Australia almost, and almost no presence in Germany.

And then the third category is virtualization, which means we need to - there are a number of verticals where we want to go much deeper. And there I think a very good example is Chronogolf [ph] where we, you know, golf courses do have retail stores, they do have restaurants, but Chronogolf brought us set of functionality that enabled us to go much deeper into the golf industry.

29. On December 1, 2020, Lightspeed issued a press release entitled, "Lightspeed Announces Acquisition of Upserve to Further Omnichannel Revolution of American Restaurant Industry." The press release stated, in relevant part:

The union of Lightspeed and Upserve will **accelerate product innovation and the advancement of Lightspeed’s analytics-driven commerce platform**. A convergence of the two companies’ teams and technology will provide independent restaurants in the United States, from fine-dine to multi-location fast-casual, one of the most competitive hospitality platforms on the market and enable the industry to more easily navigate the new dining needs made permanent by the COVID-19 pandemic.

“Combining forces with Upserve is a strategic next-step in Lightspeed’s vision of providing the most advanced commerce platform to high-performing businesses around the world,” said Dax Dasilva, Founder and CEO of Lightspeed. “We believe this acquisition will accelerate the product innovation that has enabled Lightspeed customers to tackle the greatest challenge to their industry in decades and will add exceptional leadership to our teams in anticipation of the economic recovery of the global hospitality industry.”

(Emphasis in original.)

30. On February 4, 2021, Lightspeed issued a press release announcing the Company’s third quarter 2021 financial results and providing an outlook for the fourth quarter. The press release stated, in relevant part:

Software revenue increased partially due to a growing portion of Lightspeed’s customer base adopting more than one software module. Additionally, payments adoption, both in terms of the number of customer locations and the proportion of GTV[] processed, continued to grow, with revenue generated through Lightspeed Payments reaching another all-time high.

“Despite the challenges we continue to face as a result of the pandemic, Lightspeed was able to grow revenues, expand our customer base, deliver highly innovative new offerings and complete two transformational acquisitions,” said Chief Financial Officer, Brandon Nussey. “The value of our cloud-based, multi-channel solution is becoming more apparent as a result of the pandemic, as are solutions such as Lightspeed Payments which had another record quarter.”

Operational Highlights

- Total revenues of \$57.6M was up 79% year-over-year, and \$49.3M when excluding the recent acquisitions of ShopKeep and Upserve representing growth of 53% year-over-year.

- Software and payments revenue came in at \$52.5M. Excluding ShopKeep and Upserve, software and payments revenue was \$45.1M and represented 92% of total core Lightspeed revenue, up 59% year-over-year. Excluding the impact of all acquisitions that were not in the Company's results from a year ago, software and payments revenue grew by 47% as compared to the same quarter last year and versus 42% growth last quarter.

- Even excluding the positive impact from the ShopKeep and Upserve acquisitions Lightspeed's ARPU[] increased from the previous quarter, due predominantly to increased payments revenue in the quarter and an increased portion of customer's adopting more than one software module.

- Lightspeed Payments volumes grew significantly year-over-year as a growing portion of overall GTV was processed through Lightspeed Payments. Excluding the impact of ShopKeep and Upserve, approximately 15% of U.S. and 12% of Canadian Retail GTV, respectively, was processed by Lightspeed Payments in the last week of the quarter. U.S. hospitality levels remained consistent with last quarter in the last week of the quarter.
- Lightspeed closed two key acquisitions in the quarter, ShopKeep and Upserve. These acquisitions solidify Lightspeed as one of the leading cloud-based commerce platforms for small to medium-sized businesses in the key U.S. market.

31. On February 5, 2021, Lightspeed hosted an earnings call with investors and analysts to discuss the Company's Q3 2021 results (the "Q3 2021 Earnings Call"). During the scripted portion of the Q3 2021 Earnings Call, Defendant Dasilva stated, in relevant part:

Our team's dedication continues to pay off for our customers and investors in Q3 as Lightspeed on a year-over-year basis delivered revenue growth of 79%, relocations by 74% and expanded GTV by 48%. Although the addition of Upserve and ShopKeep boosted our performance for the quarter, even without their contribution, Lightspeed delivered revenue ahead of our previously established guidance and reached software and payments organic revenue growth of 47% year-over-year, accelerating from the 42% we saw last quarter.

On our M&A strategy, I want to make certain things clear. Firstly, Lightspeed looks at companies that have similar operations to our own, that is they are cloud-based,

have similar go-to-market approaches and are well run. Because they share a similar approach and structure, integrating these companies into our operations is considerably easier. Given that we have some experience here, I believe we are developing an expertise in integrating acquisitions.

Secondly, I want to make clear that we have no interest in maintaining a portfolio of brands and solutions. The goal is to integrate all of our acquisitions and be in market with one Lightspeed solution for retail and one for hospitality, all under one Lightspeed brand. The pace at which we integrate the acquisitions will vary depending on several factors, but for ShopKeep and Upserve, the integration is well under way, with operations expected to be fully integrated by April and product by end of summer.

Finally, our approach to M&A is to look for companies that can expand or solidify our geographic footprint, such as Gastrofix, Upserve and ShopKeep; takes us into compelling verticals such as Chronogolf; or advance our technology offering. These three goals, market expansion, vertical expansion and technology, will continue to drive our strategy going forward.

32. Also during the scripted portion of the Q3 2021 Earnings Call, Defendant Nussey stated, in relevant part:

The strength of the quarter was led by the four primary drivers of our business model. First, continued growth of our customer base, which, as you've have heard, is now just under 115,000 total locations at December 31. We saw another strong quarter of organic customer location adds, which I believe is one of the most important metrics for us.

Second, ARPU expansion, as we grow our customer base, our land-and-expand strategy kicks in, and we saw continued success there. ARPU for the quarter was our highest ever as more and more customers adopt a broader portion of the solution set.

Third, Lightspeed payments with \$29 billion in overall GTV, we have a tremendous opportunity for Lightspeed payments. The number of customers' contracting for payments alongside their core subscription were an all-time high this quarter.

And lastly, acquisitions, we believe that smart acquisitions will accelerate our leadership position and unlock many revenue, expense and technology synergies. Our past acquisitions have proven to be highly successful, and our recent acquisitions of ShopKeep and Upserve are landmark deals that significantly alter our scale and market presence. We believe all four of these drivers have substantial runway still ahead of us.

Also as mentioned, overall GTV grew 48% versus the same quarter a year ago and 29% when excluding ShopKeep and Upserve. Within this, we continue to see strength from our retail customers, where overall retail GTV grew 41% versus the prior year. Retail GTV was aided by continued success of ecommerce, where GTV was up by approximately 100% versus the prior year.

33. On March 11, 2021, Lightspeed issued a press release entitled, “Lightspeed to acquire Vend to power global retail expansion.” The press release stated, in relevant part:

The acquisition also builds on Lightspeed’s foothold in Asia-Pacific, approximately doubling the company’s customer base and expanding its retail footprint in that region. The combination of Lightspeed with the talent and technology of Vend, widely acknowledged as providing one of the foremost retail products on the market, will help to further growth by ultimately providing the Vend customer base access to the company’s broader commerce solutions, such as Lightspeed Payments, Lightspeed eCommerce, Lightspeed Loyalty, as well as future access to the Lightspeed Supplier Network.

“Lightspeed’s mission is to ignite the potential of businesses to enrich the communities they serve, whether they are beloved local neighborhoods or the thriving metropolitan cities we are eager to see bustling with crowds once again,” said Dax Dasilva, Founder and CEO of Lightspeed. “We are thrilled to partner with Vend, a team that matches Lightspeed’s passion for retail. That combined drive will position our global retail base of high-performing businesses for success as they emerge from a truly transformational period in the history of modern commerce.”

34. On May 20, 2021, Lightspeed issued a press release announcing the Company’s fourth quarter 2021 financial results and providing an outlook for fiscal 2022. The press release stated, in relevant part:

Fiscal 2021 ended up as one of the most transformative years yet for Lightspeed, with the Company announcing three landmark acquisitions, launching a series of new offerings such as Lightspeed Capital, eCommerce for Restaurants and Order Ahead, listing on the New York Stock Exchange and delivering innovative strategic initiatives such as Supplier Network and the recently announced integration of Google tools directly into the platform. In addition to these key strategic accomplishments and despite the ongoing challenges presented by the global COVID-19 pandemic, Lightspeed delivered strong results in the quarter and the year with small and medium-sized businesses increasingly adopting the Company’s cloud-based commerce platform to enable their omnichannel strategies.

As of March 31, 2021, Lightspeed saw GTV[] grow to \$10.8 billion while achieving record revenues of \$82.4 million and customer locations[] ended at over 140,000 after giving effect to the acquisition of Vend Limited (“Vend”). The Company saw excellent performance from Lightspeed Payments, with revenue from Payments reaching another all time high. Software revenue also pushed higher thanks to existing customers adopting a greater number of software modules and a growing customer base. GTV continued to grow despite challenges in the hospitality sector, with omnichannel retail and the Australia region showing particular strength.

“Our mission to arm entrepreneurs with the technology they need to run and scale their businesses has never felt more relevant,” said Dax Dasilva, Founder and CEO of Lightspeed. “We believe our customers will look back on the past year as the time when an omnichannel presence moved to becoming an absolute necessity and on Lightspeed as the partner that helped them get there. While helping our customers meet the challenges of the past year, Lightspeed grew its scale, established itself as a leader in the key U.S. market, launched a series of new product offerings, and continued to deliver strong results.”

Operational Highlights

- Total revenues of \$82.4 million were up 127% year-over-year thanks to a combination of strong organic[] growth and the recent acquisitions of Upserve and ShopKeep, which added \$31.2 million in revenue. Also, due to renegotiated terms with the payments partner of our recent acquisitions, Lightspeed has gained greater control of the underlying customer relationship and, as a result, is seeing superior economics. Due to this modified relationship, Lightspeed realized increased revenue of approximately \$7.4 million in the quarter, along with improved gross profit.
- In the quarter, subscription and transaction-based revenue was \$75.3 million, representing 91% of all revenue and growing 137% year-over-year. Organic growth of 48% year-over-year and the recent acquisitions of Upserve and ShopKeep, which added \$28.3 million in subscription and transaction-based revenue, accounted for the strong growth.

- ARPU[] increased year-over-year by 48% to \$215. The bulk of this ARPU improvement came from transaction-based revenues largely due to the success of Lightspeed Payments. Software also contributed to year-over-year ARPU increases partially due to an increasing portion of customers taking on multiple modules.

- For the quarter, Lightspeed delivered GTV of \$10.8 billion up 76% year-over-year. Excluding our recent acquisitions, the Company continued to see strong growth in Retail with eCommerce growth of approximately 100% year-over-year and total omnichannel retail GTV growth of 65% year-over-year. Organic[]GTV growth was 25% year-over-year as hospitality continued to be challenged in the quarter.

35. That same day, Lightspeed filed an Annual Report on Form 40-F with the SEC, reporting the Company’s financial and operating results for the year ended March 31, 2021 (the “2021 40-F”). The 2021 40-F stated, in relevant part:

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. Disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) are recorded, processed, summarized and reported in a timely fashion. The disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in such reports is then accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management to ensure timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management regularly reviews disclosure controls and procedures; however, they cannot provide an absolute level of assurance because of the inherent limitations in control systems to prevent or detect all misstatements due to error or fraud. The Chief Executive Officer [] and the Chief Financial Officer [], along with management, have evaluated and concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as at March 31, 2021 were effective.

36. Also that same day, Lightspeed hosted an earnings call with investors and analysts to discuss the Company’s full year and fourth quarter 2021 results (the “Q4 2021 Earnings Call”). During the scripted portion of the Q4 2021 Earnings Call, Defendant Dasilva stated, in relevant part:

We were happy to end the year on a high note with Lightspeed delivering quarterly revenues that exceeded previously established guidance and street expectations. We grew revenue 127% year-over-year with organic software and transaction-based revenue growth of 48%. Lightspeed Payments had another record quarter and grew revenues both year-on-year and from the previous quarter. And we are now present in over 140,000 customer locations when we include the recent acquisition of Vend.

Part of the reason we are able to expand our ambitions, attract partners such as Google and invest in new technologies is our scale. That scale has been a result of our considerable organic growth, but also thanks to our M&A efforts. M&A has always been a part of our strategy and in the last six months that has been front and center. Over time, we should continue to recognize the benefits of our M&A strategy across our entire business, but I believe it is important to highlight that we are already seeing some of these benefits.

37. Also during the scripted portion of the Q4 2021 Earnings Call, Defendant Nussey stated, in relevant part:

The great news is that we're seeing plenty of reasons for optimism in our customer base as customers find success using our omnichannel solutions to reach their consumers. This shows up in our GTV, which was almost 11 billion in the quarter up 76% from a year ago. Excluding ShopKeep and Upserve's contribution, overall GTV was 7.6 billion up 25% versus a year ago. Omnichannel retail continues to perform exceptionally well for us, with GTV up 65% from a year ago organically. Within retail, e-commerce volumes were up almost 100% from a year ago. Hospitality was down 15% year-over-year organically, but a solid resurgence in March, which continued into April.

In the last month of the quarter, our overall penetration of GTV was approaching 10%, excluding Upserve and ShopKeep showing the runway we still have ahead of us. All of this led to overall revenue of 82.4 million up 127% from 36.3 million a year ago. For the full year, revenue was 222 million up 84% from 121 million a year ago. Excluding the impact of ShopKeep and Upserve, revenue was 51.2 million in the quarter. Within our total revenue, our software and payments revenue for the quarter was 75.3 million up 137% from 31.8 million a year ago. When excluding ShopKeep and Upserve, organic software and payments revenue grew by 48%. And for the full-year, software and payments was 202 million up from 107 million a year ago.

38. On June 7, 2021, Lightspeed issued a press release entitled, "Lightspeed to acquire Ecwid and NuORDER to unify commerce ecosystem and ignite business creation." The press release stated, in relevant part:

Once closed, the acquisitions will provide Lightspeed customers new entry points to the digital economy, unprecedented supply chain management as well as increased opportunities to provide outstanding customer experiences online.

Over the past year, commerce has fundamentally transformed for the businesses that make up the backbone of the global economy. New businesses need fast and easy ways to sell online, while established merchants plan to invest even more in the tools and experiences that will unite their digital and physical operations. Lightspeed will acquire Ecwid, a US-based best-in-class global eCommerce platform, that allows customers to create standalone businesses in minutes. Once integrated, the combination of Lightspeed and Ecwid will help merchants reach shoppers where they are, whether on social media or digital marketplaces, ushering in newfound selling flexibility and omnichannel experiences.

In addition, following the strong initial reception and success of the Lightspeed Supplier Network, Lightspeed has announced it has entered into a definitive agreement to acquire NuORDER, a transformative digital platform connecting businesses and suppliers. Together, Lightspeed and NuORDER will create an industry-leading bridge between the merchant and supplier experience, simplifying product ordering for retailers and offering brands crucial insight into how their products move. The acquisition will capitalize on the early success of the Lightspeed Supplier Network and accelerate the growth of Lightspeed's financial services offerings, including Lightspeed Payments and Lightspeed Capital, while establishing the company as a global distribution network for leading brands, such as Canada Goose, Converse and Arc'teryx.

“By joining forces with Ecwid and NuORDER, Lightspeed becomes the common thread uniting merchants, suppliers and consumers, a transformation we believe will enable innovative retailers to adapt to the new world of commerce,” said Dax Dasilva, Founder and CEO of Lightspeed. “As economies reopen and business creation accelerates, we hope to embolden entrepreneurs with the tools they need to simplify their operations and scale their ambitions.”

39. On August 5, 2021, Lightspeed issued a press release announcing the Company's first quarter 2022 financial results and raising its outlook for fiscal 2022. The press release stated, in relevant part:

Fiscal 2022 got off to a strong start with the Company achieving record quarterly revenue, GTV[] and Customer Locations[]. In addition to delivering strong results, the Company advanced on strategic initiatives including expanding Lightspeed Payments in the EMEA region, closing the acquisition of Vend Limited (“Vend”), partnering with the leading restaurant reservation platform OpenTable and announcing definitive agreements to acquire NuORDER and Ecwid — the former of which closed in July.

For the quarter ended June 30, 2021, Lightspeed saw GTV grow to \$16.3 billion while achieving record revenue of \$115.9 million and Customer Locations of over 150,000. The Company's payments solutions continued to be a key driver of growth

as more customers contracted for payments alongside their software subscriptions. Subscription revenue increased thanks partially to the recent acquisitions of ShopKeep, Upserve and Vend, but also due to an increase in Customer Locations. GTV growth was assisted by the strong rebound in the hospitality sector and the EMEA region.

“Lightspeed achieved outstanding results this quarter as demand for both our software and payments solutions were bolstered by economies reopening around the world” said Chief Financial and Operations Officer Brandon Nussey. “The momentum we experienced in March continued into our fiscal Q1 as our customers experienced a strong recovery which helped accelerate our GTV growth.”

Operational Highlights

- Total revenue of \$115.9 million was up 220% year-over-year thanks to a combination of strong organic[] growth and the recent acquisitions of ShopKeep, Upserve and Vend, which added \$50.5 million in revenue.

- Subscription revenue of \$49.9 million increased 115% year-over-year and was assisted by the recent acquisitions of ShopKeep, Upserve and Vend and the growing number of Customer Locations, which numbered over 150,000 at the end of the quarter, an increase of 95% year-over-year. Growth was also assisted by an increased number of customers adopting multiple software modules.
- Transaction-based revenues of \$56.5 million grew by a total of 453% year-over-year. The strong performance was a result of accelerating growth in GTV and an increasing portion of that GTV being processed through the Company’s payments solutions. Lightspeed saw an increasing number of customers contract for payments alongside their software subscriptions in the quarter. The recent acquisitions of ShopKeep, Upserve and Vend also contributed.
- For the quarter, Lightspeed delivered GTV of \$16.3 billion up 203% year-over-year. Organic³ GTV growth was 91% year-over-year. GTV growth was greatly assisted by Hospitality that saw growth of 380%. Omnichannel retail also experienced strong growth at 139%, year-over-year. Approximately 10% of GTV was processed through the Company’s payments solutions.

40. That same day, Lightspeed hosted an earnings call with investors and analysts to discuss the Company's Q1 2022 results (the "Q1 2022 Earnings Call"). During the scripted portion of the Q1 2022 Earnings Call, Defendant Dasilva stated, in relevant part:

Total revenue was up 220% year-over-year, with organic software and payments revenue up 78%. The company now maintains over 150,000 retail and hospitality locations globally. GTV was strong, growing 203% year-over-year to \$16.3 billion. Organic GTV growth was 91%. Payments penetration continues to increase with approximately 10% of our GTV processed through our payment solutions.

We closed the acquisition of Vend in the quarter, with that group delivering better-than-expected results. We established a partnership with the leading restaurant reservation platform OpenTable.

And finally, we announced definitive agreements to acquire NuORDER and Ecwid, which will help transform Lightspeed into one stop commerce platform. The NuORDER transaction was closed last month, with Ecwid expected to close by the end of this quarter.

41. Also during the scripted portion of the Q1 2022 Earnings Call, Defendant Nussey stated, in relevant part:

GTV was an outstanding \$16.3 billion, up from \$10.8 billion just last quarter. It was 203% higher than a year ago. On an organic basis GTV grew 90% from last year's depressed levels. We're thrilled to see our customers and the communities they serve come back to life.

As mentioned, hospitality roared back to life as economies reopened. Organic growth in GTV was 164% in the quarter and was up 380% overall. This wonderful performance by our customers translated into our payments revenue performing well above our plans. Volume increases with expanding payments availability around the world and strong ongoing customer demand, led to overall transaction-based revenue growing more than 450% year-over-year. Really encouraged to see all this come together for our customers and for Lightspeed.

All told then, we reported \$115.9 million of revenue, up 220% over last year and well ahead of our guidance of \$90 million to \$94 million. Excluding acquisitions completed in the last 12 months, revenue grew by 81%. Subscription and

transaction-based revenue was 92% of our total revenue at \$106.4 million and grew by 218%. On an organic basis, Software and Payments grew 78% year-over-year.

We believe we are well positioned to continue increasing our market share, as the Lightspeed brand continues to gain prominence, given our best-in-class solution suite and rapid adoption of cloud-based solutions. We further believe that we will be able to grow our software ARPU, for new and existing customers, as our customers adopt more of our solution footprint and we introduce new functionality to our customers.

42. Further, when asked a question regarding the ultimate ARPU potential for the Company, Defendant Nussey stated, in relevant part:

[. . .] as we sit here today, we're really comfortable with the progress we're making on growing market share and we take a look at the rates we're growing the customer base and the size of our market, we remain really optimistic there. We've been growing and we've always said that we saw opportunity to grow software ARPU at 10% a year or thereabouts. And as we sit here today and think about the reception of our customers to incremental modules, our value prop of being a largely one-stop shop for the core offerings.

We feel very good that we're going to continue to see that play out. We've mentioned that about half of our customers use at least one Lightspeed module and half don't. So there's lots of white space there for us to continue to grow that that software ARPU in our view.

And then the rest of the ARPU comes from, of course, financial services, payments, Lightspeed Capital things of that nature. We're about 10% today. We see certainly opportunity to get to 50% in the foreseeable future. And that all told if we're successful doing that we're going to see ARPU growth consistently at a healthy clip here M&A notwithstanding.

43. The statements referenced in ¶¶ 21-42 were materially false and misleading because Defendants made false and/or misleading statements, as well as failed to disclose material adverse facts about the Company's business, operations, and compliance policies. Specifically, Defendants made false and/or misleading statements and/or failed to disclose that: (i) Lightspeed had misrepresented the strength of its business by, *inter alia*, overstating its customer count, GTV, and increase in ARPU, while concealing the Company's declining organic growth and business

deterioration; (ii) Lightspeed had overstated the benefits and value of the Company's various acquisitions; (iii) accordingly, the Company had overstated its financial position and prospects; and (iv) as a result, the Company's public statements were materially false and misleading at all relevant times.

The Truth Emerges

44. On September 29, 2021, market analyst Spruce Point Capital Management published a report regarding Lightspeed and issued a press release summarizing its findings. Specifically, the report indicated that "evidence shows lightspeed massively inflated its business pre-IPO," stating, in relevant part:

- We find irrefutable evidence that LSPD overstated its customer count by 85%, while GTV, a measure of payment volume through its platform was overstated by at least 10%. Using the Wayback Machine to scrape customer and GTV counts suggests that LSPD's business was already stalling pre-IPO. LSPD has shifted its discussion from customers to locations:
 - GTV overstatement identified as early as 2014 and revisions were made pre-IPO, reducing it by ~\$1.5 billion. A former employee told us to be careful of GTV as a metric, and that it is "smoke and mirrors"
 - Customer overstatement from 50k to 27k verified by two methods, using GTV per customer and ARPU per customer
- At its IPO, LSPD's prospectus promoted a Total Addressable Market (TAM) of \$113bn to grow to \$542bn:
 - Yet, after \$2.5bn spent on acquisitions since its IPO, its recent prospectus showed a current TAM of just \$16 billion (85% less)
- A compensation clawback policy was formally adopted at IPO for material misstatement of financials

45. Further, the report indicated that there is "evidence of slowing (and declining) organic growth and business deterioration through [the] IPO," stating, in relevant part:

- Hardware margins have recently turned negative and deferred revenue quality has deteriorated. Hardware sales, formerly a profit center, is now a cost center as competition gives it away for free. LSPD used to get upfront payments from customers for long-term contracts and reported long-term deferred revenue. Now, it charges monthly payments and long-term

deferred revenue is declining. A former employee told us definitively LSPD's ARPU has been declining, but management claims it is growing

- LSPD initially told investors that operating cash flow was the best way to measure its growth. However, it quickly suspended its cash flow guidance and didn't promptly call out the change to investors
- LSPD's income statement disclosures make it difficult to determine organic growth. However, balance sheet allocation from recent acquisitions gives us some insights:
 - In Q3 2021, LSPD shifted towards larger acquisitions: ShopKeep (\$545m), Upserve (\$412m), and Vend (\$372m). By backing out each acquisition's contributions to deferred revenue and receivables, we find evidence of double digit organic decline. This contrasts with LSPD's claims of 42% organic software and payments revenue growth in its core business[.]

46. Next, the report highlighted that Defendant Nussey was tied to a prior technology scandal, stating, in relevant part:

- Prior to becoming the CFO, [Nussey] held a senior operating role at Descartes that is not made clear on [Nussey's] current biography:
 - Descartes fell into operational challenges after an acquisition period
- Descartes restated financial results and Nussey saw the company through a turnaround
- Descartes and Lightspeed are both software roll-ups. The challenges at Descartes culminated in the departures of the CEO and CFO. Restatements were made to reduce receivables, revenues and assets. Goodwill was also impaired[.]

47. In addition, the report stated that Lightspeed was "pivot[ing] to acquisitions and wildly overpay[ing] when growth stalls," stating, in relevant part:

- [. . .] recent deals have come at escalating costs, and with little clear path to profitability. A few glaring issues surface:
 - LSPD has said it won't buy old platforms, but that's exactly what we believe it's done:
 - Example: ShopKeep was near bankruptcy and had limited growth, Upserve's business was in decline, and Vend was falling severely short of its financial expectations
 - LSPD's ARPU has been bizarrely stable and growing while most acquisitions have come in at lower ARPUs
 - GTV and customer numbers simply aren't adding up with the recent acquisition of Vend for \$372m. We estimate Vend either overstated transacting customers by 25% or reported customers that didn't exist

- Speaking with former employees, we find evidence that not all acquisitions have gone smoothly or met internal expectations, while some acquired platforms have been sunsetted
 - Yet, LSPD has never taken a goodwill or intangible asset impairment, and recently changed its goodwill testing criteria to make it more liberal. There is a likelihood these changes were made to avoid impairments[.]

48. The report also suggested that there was evidence of aggressive revenue reporting, stating, in relevant part:

- LSPD appears to have loosened its revenue recognition disclosure post IPO to allow for earlier recognition. There is evidence of a revenue restatement post IPO (along with COGS revisions), without explanation
- Revenues barely went down during the peak COVID-19 shutdowns, while other peers with retail and hospitality POS businesses saw revenues decline by 20% and DSOs worsen:
 - LSPD’s reported DSOs actually improved during this period
- The Company changed its story a year later about customers adding modules in early 2020, to now say in 2021 that customers who cut modules are coming back[.]

49. Finally, with respect to Lightspeed Payments, the report indicated that there was trouble with this “highly promoted upside opportunity,” stating, in relevant part:

- LSPD promoted a “payments” solution in 2014, which to the best of our knowledge, didn’t appear to gain much traction. Now post-IPO in early 2019, LSPD introduced a new “Lightspeed Payments” and has been heavily promoting its upside to investors
- LSPD has been dodgy about providing any KPIs around the payments solution

- In its recent Annual Report, LSPD finally provided details on “transaction-based” revenues and costs, thereby allowing investors to see how the business is progressing:
 - Spruce Point believes LSPD purposefully avoids talking about payments margins. Even when asked directly by analysts, management gives long-winded answers in response
 - What’s evident is that transaction-based margins are falling hard and have compressed by ~2,500bps since March 2020. Management hasn’t been exactly open with investors about the magnitude or reasons for the sharp decline[.]

50. On this news, Lightspeed's stock price fell \$13.73 per share, or 12.2%, to close at \$98.77 per share on September 29, 2021.

51. As a result of Defendants' wrongful acts and omissions, and the precipitous decline in the market value of the Company's securities, Plaintiff and other Class members have suffered significant losses and damages.

PLAINTIFF'S CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

52. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a Class, consisting of all those who purchased or otherwise acquired Lightspeed securities during the Class Period (the "Class"); and were damaged upon the revelation of the alleged corrective disclosures. Excluded from the Class are Defendants herein, the officers and directors of the Company, at all relevant times, members of their immediate families and their legal representatives, heirs, successors or assigns and any entity in which Defendants have or had a controlling interest.

53. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable. Throughout the Class Period, Lightspeed securities were actively traded on the NYSE. While the exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this time and can be ascertained only through appropriate discovery, Plaintiff believes that there are hundreds or thousands of members in the proposed Class. Record owners and other members of the Class may be identified from records maintained by Lightspeed or its transfer agent and may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using the form of notice similar to that customarily used in securities class actions.

54. Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all members of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants' wrongful conduct in violation of federal law that is complained of herein.

55. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation. Plaintiff has no interests antagonistic to or in conflict with those of the Class.

56. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the questions of law and fact common to the Class are:

- whether the federal securities laws were violated by Defendants' acts as alleged herein;
- whether statements made by Defendants to the investing public during the Class Period misrepresented material facts about the business, operations and management of Lightspeed;
- whether the Individual Defendants caused Lightspeed to issue false and misleading financial statements during the Class Period;
- whether Defendants acted knowingly or recklessly in issuing false and misleading financial statements;
- whether the prices of Lightspeed securities during the Class Period were artificially inflated because of the Defendants' conduct complained of herein; and
- whether the members of the Class have sustained damages and, if so, what is the proper measure of damages.

57. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. Furthermore, as the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and burden of individual litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to individually redress the wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as a class action.

58. Plaintiff will rely, in part, upon the presumption of reliance established by the fraud-on-the-market doctrine in that:

- Defendants made public misrepresentations or failed to disclose material facts during the Class Period;
- the omissions and misrepresentations were material;
- Lightspeed securities are traded in an efficient market;
- the Company's shares were liquid and traded with moderate to heavy volume during the Class Period;
- the Company traded on the NYSE and was covered by multiple analysts;
- the misrepresentations and omissions alleged would tend to induce a reasonable investor to misjudge the value of the Company's securities; and
- Plaintiff and members of the Class purchased, acquired and/or sold Lightspeed securities between the time the Defendants failed to disclose or misrepresented material facts and the time the true facts were disclosed, without knowledge of the omitted or misrepresented facts.

59. Based upon the foregoing, Plaintiff and the members of the Class are entitled to a presumption of reliance upon the integrity of the market.

60. Alternatively, Plaintiff and the members of the Class are entitled to the presumption of reliance established by the Supreme Court in *Affiliated Ute Citizens of the State of Utah v. United States*, 406 U.S. 128, 92 S. Ct. 2430 (1972), as Defendants omitted material information in their Class Period statements in violation of a duty to disclose such information, as detailed above.

COUNT I

(Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 Promulgated Thereunder Against All Defendants)

61. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained above as if fully set forth herein.

62. This Count is asserted against Defendants and is based upon Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the SEC.

63. During the Class Period, Defendants engaged in a plan, scheme, conspiracy and course of conduct, pursuant to which they knowingly or recklessly engaged in acts, transactions, practices and courses of business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon Plaintiff and the other members of the Class; made various untrue statements of material facts and omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud in connection with the purchase and sale of securities. Such scheme was intended to, and, throughout the Class Period, did: (i) deceive the investing public, including Plaintiff and other Class members, as alleged herein; (ii) artificially inflate and maintain the market price of Lightspeed securities; and (iii) cause Plaintiff and other members of the Class to purchase or otherwise acquire Lightspeed securities and options at artificially inflated prices. In furtherance of this unlawful scheme, plan and course of conduct, Defendants, and each of them, took the actions set forth herein.

64. Pursuant to the above plan, scheme, conspiracy and course of conduct, each of the Defendants participated directly or indirectly in the preparation and/or issuance of the quarterly and annual reports, SEC filings, press releases and other statements and documents described above, including statements made to securities analysts and the media that were designed to influence the market for Lightspeed securities. Such reports, filings, releases and statements were materially false and misleading in that they failed to disclose material adverse information and misrepresented the truth about Lightspeed's finances and business prospects.

65. By virtue of their positions at Lightspeed, Defendants had actual knowledge of the materially false and misleading statements and material omissions alleged herein and intended thereby to deceive Plaintiff and the other members of the Class, or, in the alternative, Defendants acted with reckless disregard for the truth in that they failed or refused to ascertain and disclose such facts as would reveal the materially false and misleading nature of the statements made, although such facts were readily available to Defendants. Said acts and omissions of Defendants were committed willfully or with reckless disregard for the truth. In addition, each Defendant knew or recklessly disregarded that material facts were being misrepresented or omitted as described above.

66. Information showing that Defendants acted knowingly or with reckless disregard for the truth is peculiarly within Defendants' knowledge and control. As the senior managers and/or directors of Lightspeed, the Individual Defendants had knowledge of the details of Lightspeed's internal affairs.

67. The Individual Defendants are liable both directly and indirectly for the wrongs complained of herein. Because of their positions of control and authority, the Individual Defendants were able to and did, directly or indirectly, control the content of the statements of Lightspeed. As officers and/or directors of a publicly-held company, the Individual Defendants had a duty to disseminate timely, accurate, and truthful information with respect to Lightspeed's businesses, operations, future financial condition and future prospects. As a result of the dissemination of the aforementioned false and misleading reports, releases and public statements, the market price of Lightspeed securities was artificially inflated throughout the Class Period. In ignorance of the adverse facts concerning Lightspeed's business and financial condition which were concealed by Defendants, Plaintiff and the other members of the Class purchased or

otherwise acquired Lightspeed securities at artificially inflated prices and relied upon the price of the securities, the integrity of the market for the securities and/or upon statements disseminated by Defendants, and were damaged thereby.

68. During the Class Period, Lightspeed securities were traded on an active and efficient market. Plaintiff and the other members of the Class, relying on the materially false and misleading statements described herein, which the Defendants made, issued or caused to be disseminated, or relying upon the integrity of the market, purchased or otherwise acquired shares of Lightspeed securities at prices artificially inflated by Defendants' wrongful conduct. Had Plaintiff and the other members of the Class known the truth, they would not have purchased or otherwise acquired said securities, or would not have purchased or otherwise acquired them at the inflated prices that were paid. At the time of the purchases and/or acquisitions by Plaintiff and the Class, the true value of Lightspeed securities was substantially lower than the prices paid by Plaintiff and the other members of the Class. The market price of Lightspeed securities declined sharply upon public disclosure of the facts alleged herein to the injury of Plaintiff and Class members.

69. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, Defendants knowingly or recklessly, directly or indirectly, have violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.

70. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their respective purchases, acquisitions and sales of the Company's securities during the Class Period, upon the disclosure that the Company had been disseminating misrepresented financial statements to the investing public.

COUNT II

(Violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act Against the Individual Defendants)

71. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

72. During the Class Period, the Individual Defendants participated in the operation and management of Lightspeed, and conducted and participated, directly and indirectly, in the conduct of Lightspeed's business affairs. Because of their senior positions, they knew the adverse non-public information about Lightspeed's misstatement of income and expenses and false financial statements.

73. As officers and/or directors of a publicly owned company, the Individual Defendants had a duty to disseminate accurate and truthful information with respect to Lightspeed's financial condition and results of operations, and to correct promptly any public statements issued by Lightspeed which had become materially false or misleading.

74. Because of their positions of control and authority as senior officers, the Individual Defendants were able to, and did, control the contents of the various reports, press releases and public filings which Lightspeed disseminated in the marketplace during the Class Period concerning Lightspeed's results of operations. Throughout the Class Period, the Individual Defendants exercised their power and authority to cause Lightspeed to engage in the wrongful acts complained of herein. The Individual Defendants, therefore, were "controlling persons" of Lightspeed within the meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. In this capacity, they participated in the unlawful conduct alleged which artificially inflated the market price of Lightspeed securities.

75. Each of the Individual Defendants, therefore, acted as a controlling person of Lightspeed. By reason of their senior management positions and/or being directors of Lightspeed, each of the Individual Defendants had the power to direct the actions of, and exercised the same to cause, Lightspeed to engage in the unlawful acts and conduct complained of herein. Each of the Individual Defendants exercised control over the general operations of Lightspeed and possessed the power to control the specific activities which comprise the primary violations about which Plaintiff and the other members of the Class complain.

76. By reason of the above conduct, the Individual Defendants are liable pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act for the violations committed by Lightspeed.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants as follows:

- A. Determining that the instant action may be maintained as a class action under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and certifying Plaintiff as the Class representative;
- B. Requiring Defendants to pay damages sustained by Plaintiff and the Class by reason of the acts and transactions alleged herein;
- C. Awarding Plaintiff and the other members of the Class prejudgment and post-judgment interest, as well as their reasonable attorneys' fees, expert fees and other costs; and
- D. Awarding such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury.

Dated: November 16, 2021

Respectfully submitted,

POMERANTZ LLP

/s/ Jeremy A. Lieberman
Jeremy A. Lieberman

J. Alexander Hood II
Thomas H. Przybylowski
600 Third Avenue
New York, New York 10016
Telephone: (212) 661-1100
Facsimile: (212) 661-8665
jalieberman@pomlaw.com
ahood@pomlaw.com
tprzybylowski@pomlaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff

**CERTIFICATION PURSUANT
TO FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS**

1. I, Kishore Nath, make this declaration pursuant to Section 27(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) and/or Section 21D(a)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) as amended by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

2. I have reviewed a Complaint against Lightspeed Commerce Inc. (“Lightspeed” or the “Company”) and authorize the filing of a comparable complaint on my behalf.

3. I did not purchase or acquire Lightspeed securities at the direction of plaintiffs’ counsel or in order to participate in any private action arising under the Securities Act or Exchange Act.

4. I am willing to serve as a representative party on behalf of a Class of investors who purchased or otherwise acquired Lightspeed securities during the class period, including providing testimony at deposition and trial, if necessary. I understand that the Court has the authority to select the most adequate lead plaintiff in this action.

5. The attached sheet lists all of my transactions in Lightspeed securities during the Class Period as specified in the Complaint.

6. During the three-year period preceding the date on which this Certification is signed, I have not served or sought to serve as a representative party on behalf of a class under the federal securities laws.

7. I agree not to accept any payment for serving as a representative party on behalf of the class as set forth in the Complaint, beyond my pro rata share of any recovery, except such reasonable costs and expenses directly relating to the representation of the class as ordered or approved by the Court.

8. I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed October 26, 2021
(Date)

Kishore Nath
(Signature)

KISHORE NATH
(Type or Print Name)

Lightspeed Commerce Inc. (LSPD)

Nath, Kishore

List of Purchases and Sales

Transaction Type	Date	Number of Shares/Unit	Price Per Share/Unit
Purchase	9/10/2021	29	\$124.7100
Purchase	9/24/2021	21	\$119.6300